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Akkadian and Hittite sources 4. A, Goetze 3, J. Lewy 8, and E. Bilgi¢?
have sought this city, which according to the Assyrians and later
on the Hittites belonged to the “lower country”, in the area south
of the Salt Lake. Maps published by Garstang - Gurney? and T.
Ozgiig? locate Burushanda at the site of Acemhdyiik. Objects from
Acemhdyiik in the Kayseri!® and Ankara 1 Archaeological Museums,
as well as sherds collected on the site, proved that Acemhoyiik had
been inhabited on a large scale in the Asyrian Colony Period. These
essential points : that we have to deal with the ruins of a large city,
that there is ample evidence for the Assyrian Colony Period, and espe-
cially that we have a strong candidate for identification as Burushanda
persuaded us to start excavations at Acemhdyiik.

Acemhdyiik is an old settlement enjoying all the natural advan-
tages required for the development of a city. It lies 225 km. to the
south of Ankara, 18 km. to the nothwest of Aksaray (Ancient Gas-
saura, Archaleia)!? on the outskirts of Hasan Dag. A village road
connects it with the State Model Farm at Kocag, 6 km. to the north.
Northwest of Kiiltepe, northeast of Konya, very close to the southern
tip of the Salt Lake, it lies in the middle of a wide and fertile plain
watered by the Uluirmak (Melendiz river). It is near the main
north-south road from Cukurova, and 10 km. north of the east-west
road from Konya to Kayseri. This east-west 10ad remained of great
importance in all periods, but was especially prominent in the Selguk
period. The caravanserais along this road are vivid witnesses to
this traffic13,

4 H. G. Giiterbock, Die historische und ihre literarische Gestaltung bei
Babyloniern und Hethitern bis 1200 p. 86 (ZA, NF 8, 1934); A. Goetze, Klein-
asien (Kulturgeschichte des alten Orients), Miinchen, 1957, pp. 65, 72, 75.

5 A. Goetze, Kleinasien, p. 72.

¢ J. Levy, Halil Edhem Hatira Kitabi, Ankara, 1947, s. 14 - 15.

7 E. Bilgig, die Ortsnamen der “Kappadokischen” Urkunden im Rahmen
der alten Sprachen Anatoliens, (AfO 15), p. 2r.

8 J. Garstang, O. Gurney, The Geography of the Hittite Empire, London,
1959, p, 64, Map 1.

® Tahsin Ozgiig, An Assyrian Trading Qutpost, (Scientific American, February,
1963) pp. 89 - 99 map.

10 K. Bittel, Archaologischer Anzeiger 1940, p. 579, fig. 13.

11 B. Tezcan, Belleten XXII, 1958, pp. 517.

12 Ramsay, Historical Geography of Asia Minor, pp. 281.

13 K. Erdmann, Das Anatolische Karavansaray des 13. Jahrhunderts, Berlin,
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abandoned at the same time, viz. at the end of the Assyrian Colony
Period. Later on the mound saw a slight reoccupation in the Helle-
nistic and Roman periods. Houses of this period represent a single
building level to be found only on Sarikaya and on the south-west
part of the mound. The most brilliant period of Acemhéoyiik must
have been the first half of the second millennium B. C.

After the victory of Sultan Selim the First at Caldiran (1514), a
Turkish village was founded by families brought from Azerbaijan;
the village which now is in its 453 rd year has covered the south
slopes of the mound and the lower city, Yesilova.

In this first report we shall discuss the four building levels which
represent the Assyrian Colony Period. Level I, the latest building level,
is considerably disturbed because of its proximity to the surface.
There are, however, a good number of stone pavements, remnants
of ovens (P, II, 1)and broken pottery. In technique and shape the
pottery of I continues the traditions of the earlier wares of level II.

Building remains of level IT appear in all parts of the mound,
which was evidently densely inhabited in this period. Level III had
been destroyed by a disastrous conflagration. The houses of II were
built right on top of the ruins, sometimes even reusing the foundations
and walls, or in some cases the rooms, of the older buildings. Stone
foundations were hardly ever used for the houses of level II, which
in general were constructed in haste and in a careless manner. In
many instances beams were laid horizontally to serve as foundations
for mudbrick walls (Pl. II, 3). The walls themselves have no traces
whatsoever of vertical beam supports. In Kanish, the houses of Karum
level Ib and the contemporary buildings of the city mound had a great
amount of stone; some of the smaller buildings were even constructed
entirely of stone 5, At Kiiltepe - Kanish we never found any traces
of horizontal beams used as foundations; on the other hand, both
mudbrick and stone walls have post-holes at regular intervals, the
posts framed by well cut blocks. The latter technique is alien to Acem-
hoyiik. The houses of level II at Acemhdyiik were hurriedly built
of mudbrick and wood after a great and catastrophic conflagration,
without even a proper clearing of the old ruins. This way of building
must have been due to the need to provide some kind of shelter for

15 T. Ozgiig, Kiiltepe - Kanish, p. 5.
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In the narrow upper register only one fish is preserved (Pl X,1). The
second register is three times as high as the upper; it too has a hunting
scene. The frieze moves from right to left. First we have a hunter in
short costume, with a cap fastened on the cheek by a chin-strap. The
hunter has readied his long spear with both hands for the thrust.
Opposite his face we again see a (partially preserved) fish. Something
resembling a dagger or a fox tail hangs down from the waist of the
hunter in back. Next we see a small dog behind an animal of which
only the hindlegs and a piece of tail are preserved. On a small fragment
of the third register we see geometric ornament made of hatched
triangles. On a second fragment, decorated with the same motifs,
appears a column supporting the roof of a building (Pl. IX, 2-3).
The transition between column and ceiling may be of help for the
reconstruction of ceilings of preserved buildings. There are other
non-joining fragments, one of which again has a triple division in
geometric (butterfly) patterns, in the central one of which the front
part of a large bird appears in front of a building (Pl IX, 4), in
the lower one a fragment of another fish frieze. There are still more
fragments of the vessel with geometric decoration. All the fragments
combined show that the bathtub was decorated on each of its four
sides; the designs covered about three fourths of the vessel.

Bathtubs are typical of the late phase of the Assyrian Colony
Period. Fragments of very simply decorated bathtubs had been found
at Kanish, Bogazkéy and Acemhdyiik beforel®, but the present
fragments are the first to give us information on the pictorial art of
the period, without parallels so far in central Anatolia.

The differences in technique and shapes between pottery of
levels II and Ib at the Karum of Kanish are not noticeable to the
same extent at Acemhdyiik. Unlike the situation at Kiiltepe, there
is no trace whatsoever of a hiatus or interval between the building
level destroyed by fire and level II at Acemhdyiik; hence the pottery
of level II in technique and shapes continues the traditions of level ITI,

In a pit dug by the modern villagers in the lower city, among the
present-day houses, a pithos grave was found in a level which corres-
ponds to level II of the mound. The tomb-gifts consisted of a bronze

1¢ B. Tezcan, Belleten XXII, p. 525, fig. 18; Tahsin and Nimet Ozgiig, Kiiltepe
Kazis1 Raporu 1949, Ankara, 1953, p. 52, Pl. XXXV, 247.
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clay hearths resembling similar ones from Alisar?, and especially
horseshoe-shaped hearths of the kind typical of Kanish Karum level
I12, The rectangular platforms themselves are somewhat larger
than the contemporary counterparts at Kiiltepe. Large pithoi are
set along the edge on some of these platforms, buried in the platform
to three quarters of their height.

The buildings of level III evidently show affinities in plans and
in technique to Assyrian Colony period architecture known from
Kiiltepe and Alishar. Central Anatolia in this period had developed an
independent common building style of its own. The buildings belonging
to this level do not show any signs of a general repair, remodelling or
enlargement.

The most important building of level III is the one being exca-
vated on the citadel called Sarikaya, squares NA-UA/45-51 (Plans.
2, 3, 4). The clearance of this large building was begun in 1965 and
1966. Its western part had been partly destroyed by later level occu-
pation and, especially, by villagers in need of stones or earth. The
preserved parts, however, give a fair idea of the size of the building.
A large part of it still remains unexcavated. The area excavated so
far consists of more than ten well preserved rooms. The building
undoubtedly was of a public, official nature. Its mudbrick walls stand
in part to 3.80 m. height (Pl. V, 1-2; VI, 1). The rooms are of varying
dimensions and of interesting construction. Densely spaced thick
logs rest on a row of large, flat limestone base-slabs, often four meters
wide (PL. VI, 1-2, Plans. 2-3). Mudbrick walls, of 1.50-200 m. width,
were set on these logs. The mudbricks are of large sizes, 40 X 31 X 40
and 33x33X 11 cm. The wallplaster is § cm. thick; the interior of
the rooms is white washed. The mudbrick walls have wide empty
slots left by vertical wooden posts (Pl. VII, 1). The single row of
foundation slabs projects under the logs and mudbricks as a stone
paving for 1.00 - 1.50 m., both in the room and along the outside of
the wall. These paved strips are plastered over and are incorporated in
the house floors. Some of the house floors are completely paved with
stones. With its thick walls, this building must have been higher than

2 OIP XIX, fig. 61 (E. Schmidt). The Acemhéyiik excavations proved that
they were not altars, but hearths.
21 T, Ozgiig, Kiiltepe - Kanish, p. 40, PI. XX, 1 - 2.
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of the seal are not well preserved, it is clear that we have a scene of
worship in front of a seated deity, but the poor condition of the
impression does not allow any stylistic comparison. The upper edge
of the bulla has one line of cuneiform writing, showing that the seal
belonged to an Assyrian named Assur-bell-lamassim. This bulla
is the first written document to have been found at Acem-
héyiik. The other bullae found in this room were well baked in the
conflagration. They are of irregular, nearly oval shape. They
have one or two impressions of the same stamp-seal. Some
bullae have one impression each of two different stamps. Additional
bullae were found in other rooms. Bullae with assorted impressions
of the same seal allow us to study the designs of the seals in detail.

The stamps and cylinders found in level III in other trenches
are few in number but important because of their variety in style
and types. Two cylinders were found in squares DB-HB/27-30. One
is of Old Babylonian style and has the well known decorative scheme
of the fight between a hero and an animal (Pl. XIV, 1). Another
cylinder has two scenes arranged téte béche (Pl. XIV, 2). The first
scene has a person worshipping a bull; the second, upside down,
shows a long-robed seated deity and an elixir-vase in front, as tall
as the god.

The stamp-seals are of stone and of bronze. The bronze seals
have small handles and a rectangular stamp-face. The design con-
sists of a cross with triangular filling motifs in the corners. A rectan-
gular prismatic stone seal has two decorated faces. One is divided
in four squares, its open spaces in the angles of the cross are filled with
eight triangles; each of the four squares also has a raised square
(PL. XIV, 3a-b). The other face has one triangle along each of the
short sides; the long sides have three wedge marks in a field marked
off by curved lines.

The bullae found in the magazine rooms of the burned build-
ing have impressions of stamp-seals with various geometric and
figural designs. Prominent among the figural designs are animals,
scenes of worship (rare in the stamp-seals of this period) and deities.
One stamp-seal impression on a bulla (Pl. XV, 1) shows a bearded
god on a throne. He wears a conical hat with multiple horns and
a pleated robe. In his hand he holds a long staff with ring. Facing him
is a bearded god in a pleated costume and horned headdress; a long
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finds at Acemhdyiik have now thrown light on the origin and chronol-
ogy of this collection. The Metropolitan Museum ivories were given
to the museum at various occasions by Mr. and Mrs. George Pratt.
Altogether the collection consists of more than 35 complete or frag-
mentary ivories and 18 bullae. These ivories also consist of pieces of
furniture such as animal, sphinx and human figurines, animals in
relief, carved and engraved plaques, and decorated plates. These
too had been exposed to a heavy conflagration and as a result were
calcified and discolored to a grey or pink-reddish hue. Their state
of preservation is much better than that of the ivories found by us at
Acemhbdyiik.

The poses and proportions of the sphinxes and lions are expressed
in a strong style which does not get distracted by detail 3. Special
parallels to the lion from Acemhdyiik can be seen in the way the
ivories of this group separate the, here more strongly curved, upper
part of the body from the legs with the aid of two currved lines; also
the way the tail is set flat against the back of the animals. There is
also the head of a2 medium sized female figurine, with an oval face,
large fleshy nose, close-set eyes with the pupils large and hollowed
out, thin joined eyebrows, a low forehead, and a thick neck 32, In all
these features the head has its closest parallel in the head of an
ivory femalefigurine found ina tomb of level Ib at Kanish Karum 33,

Plaques of reclining quadrupeds (gazelles ?) show the animals
with heads turned back and attacked in the hind legs by the claws of
a falcon (Pl. XXVIII, 2) 3%, In style and manner these resemble a
steatite perfume boxin he shape of an animal (antelope?) found in
level Ib at Kanish (XXVIII, 1).

A horned griffin, engraved on an ivory plaque®, both in motif

and in style finds its closest parallel on a cylinder seal impression
from level Ib at Kiiltepe 3,

Vorderasiatische Archaeologie, Studien und Aufsatze, 1964, Berlin, p. 146 (Machteld
Mellink); R. Barnett, A Catalogueof the Nimrud Ivories, London, 1956, p. 35; H.
Frankfort, Art and Architecture of the Ancient Orient, 1955, p. 192.

3 Mertzenfeld, Pls. CXXXV, 1092, 1078; CXXVI, 1088; CXXVII, 1091, 10g6.

¥ Mertzenfeld, Pl. CXXV, 1082.

33 Tahsin Ozgiig, Kiiltepe - Kanig, Pl XXXIV, 2.

3¢ Mertzenfeld, Pls. CXXV, 1094; CXXVII, 1095.

8 Mertzenfeld, Pl. CXXVII, 1103.

36 Ib Seals, Pl. XX, C.
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with twin beaked spouts (Pl. XI, 1); fragments of drinking cups in
animal shape; double-handled goblets with painted design and tubu-
lar spouts (PL. XII, 2); tripod bowls (Pl. XIII, 3); and cups (Pl. XIII,
2). The vessels have flat or ringbases, but also occasionally small
button - bases. The same types of bases are used in Kanish Karum
level II.

Acemhéyiik level III is contemporary and parallel with Karum
Kanish level II. A series of finds confirms this equation, as we have
pointed out above. Undoubtedly there were some important local
differences between the two centers, but in no case do these detract
from the basic contemporaneity of the two levelsin question. As we
tried to point out, the relevant building level in each of the two sites
represents the most brilliant phase of the Assyrian Colony period.
The palace of Acemhdyiik, the most monumental building of its period
to have been exposed in Anatolia, has certain local traits in its con-
struction. More important, we have indications that this building
was used over a long period of time, such as repairs and reinforce-
ments. The small finds confirm this conclusion. The obsidian vases,
and many of the pottery vessels and bullae have parallels among the
finds from Kanish level II. In style they are identical, but a smaller
number of vessel shapes, and a group of bullae betray a similarity
to those from level Ib at Kanish. The latter finds prove that the palace
of Acemhéyiik, built in the floruit of the Assyrian Colony period, viz.
Kanish Karum level II, was used for a somewhat more extended
period, which lasted into that of level Ib at Kanish, The interval
which has been established beyond doubt between Kanish Karum
levels II and Ib, does basically not exist at Acemhdyiik. Here the
technique, shapes, and style of the small objects display a stronger
continuity and a more gradual development than at Kiiltepe. How-
ever, we shall be better equipped to go into details on this after the
entire palace has been cleared and, more properly, after the
discovery of the archives.

Level IV of Acemhéyiik until now has only been investigated in
a limited area. We have incomplete plans of small mudbrick houses
on stone foundations. Nevertheless it appears that this level is contem-
porary with Kanish Karum III - IV since it also contains a mixture
of two kinds of pottery, the earliest examples of Hittite wheelmade
pottery along with handmade, painted Aligar III ware.





















